
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Steve Culliford
Tel: 01235 422522
E-mail: steve.culliford@southandvale.gov.uk
Date: 29 November 2017
Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Cabinet

WILL BE HELD ON THURSDAY 7 DECEMBER 2017 AT 6.00 PM
MEETING ROOM 1, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, MILTON, 
OX14 4SB

Members of the Cabinet
Member Portfolio
John Cotton (Chairman) Leader of the Council and Cabinet member for corporate 

strategy, communications and strategic policy (including 
the local plan)

Felix Bloomfield Cabinet member for development management and 
building control

Elizabeth Gillespie Cabinet member for community safety, legal, democratic 
services, electoral services, licensing and grants

Tony Harbour Cabinet member for technical services (including 
environmental health, grounds maintenance, waste, car 
parking, facilities and engineering services)

Lynn Lloyd Cabinet member for leisure services, arts and housing
Jane Murphy Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet member for 

finance
David Nimmo-Smith Cabinet member for the Five Councils' Partnership and 

corporate services contracts, IT and HR
Robert Simister Cabinet member for development and regeneration 

including property, economic development, Didcot 
Garden Town and Berinsfield

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These 
include large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read.  For this or any 
other special requirements (such as access facilities) please contact 
the officer named on this agenda.  Please give as much notice as 
possible before the meeting.

Public Document Pack



2

ITEMS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC PRESENT

Reports considered with the public present are available on the council’s website.

1 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence.  

2 Minutes  (Pages 5 - 18)

To adopt and sign as correct records the minutes of the Cabinet meetings held on 
21 September, 5 October and 14 November 2017.  

3 Declaration of disclosable pecuniary interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.  

4 Urgent business and chairman's announcements  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent, and to receive any announcements from the chairman.  

5 Public participation  

To receive any questions or statements from members of the public that have 
registered to speak.  

CABINET DECISIONS

6 Housing delivery strategy 2018 to 2028  (Pages 19 - 54)

To consider the report of the head of development, regeneration and housing.  

RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL

7 Council tax base  (Pages 55 - 58)

To consider the head of finance’s report.  

8 Exclusion of the Public  

To consider whether to exclude members of the press and public from the meeting 
for the following item of business under Part 1 of Schedule 12A Section 100A(4) of 
the Local Government Act 1972 and as amended by the Local Government (Access 
to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 on the grounds that: 



3

(i) it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 
1 to 7 Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and 

(ii) the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information.  

ITEMS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC EXCLUDED

The council hereby gives notice that it intends to hold part of this Cabinet meeting in 
private to consider the following items for the reasons set out in the ‘exclusion of the 
public’ item above.  These reports are not available on the council’s website.

9 Exempt minutes  (Pages 59 - 64)

To adopt and sign as correct records the exempt minutes of the Cabinet meetings 
held on 21 September and 14 November 2017.  

10 Corporate services contract  

To consider the report of the head of devolution and government and the head of 
legal and democratic services. TO FOLLOW

11 Management restructure  

To consider the report of the acting chief executive.  TO FOLLOW

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic Services



This page is intentionally left blank



Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Cabinet

HELD ON THURSDAY 21 SEPTEMBER 2017 AT 10.00 AM

MEETING ROOM 1, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, MILTON, 
OX14 4SB

Present:
John Cotton (Chairman), Jane Murphy (Vice-Chairman), Felix Bloomfield, Tony 
Harbour and Lynn Lloyd

Officers:
Gerry Brough, Steve Culliford, Andrew Down, Adrian Duffield, James Gagg, Holly 
Jones, Suzanne Malcolm, Ian Price, and Christopher Wheeler, 

Also present: 
Toby Newman, Richard Pullen and David Turner

27 Apologies for absence 

Councillors Elizabeth Gillespie, David Nimmo-Smith and Robert Simister had sent 
their apologies for absence.  

28 Minutes 

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 3 August 2017 as a 
correct record and agree that the Chairman signs them as such.  

29 Declaration of disclosable pecuniary interest 

None

30 Urgent business and chairman's announcements 

None

31 Public participation 

Four members of the public had registered to address Cabinet.  

(1) Toby Pejkovic, representing Save Culham Green Belt, made a statement urging 
Cabinet to vote against the inclusion in the local plan of a housing development 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



site at Culham.  There was insufficient road infrastructure to cope with 
additional traffic that would be generated by this development, the proposed 
housing development at Berinsfield, and the proposed quarry at Clifton 
Hampden.  The reasons for allocating this site for housing development in the 
Green Belt were not exceptional.  There were no definable boundaries to the 
site and providing sustainable transport was practically impossible.  He urged 
Cabinet not to include this site in the local plan but to look at smaller sites 
instead, and sites outside of the Green Belt.  

(2) Michael Tyce, representing the Campaign to Protect Rural England, believed 
that there was no longer any need to allocate a surplus of housing land over the 
strategic housing market assessment target.  The government had recently 
published proposals to reduce housing numbers, resulting in a reduced level of 
unmet housing need for Oxford.  Instead some of this land should be allocated 
for employment use to reduce commuting.  He also suggested that the council 
should require some higher density housing as it was smaller homes that were 
required in South Oxfordshire and this would provide more affordable homes 
and a greater choice for residents.  Reducing the amount of housing required in 
the local plan would not put the council at great risk.  

(3) Christian Leigh made a statement on behalf of residents at the Rofford estate, 
regarding the proposed local plan housing allocation at Chalgrove airfield.  He 
objected to the inclusion of this site in the local plan, questioned whether 
agreement had been reached with the site owner, and questioned whether the 
housing could be delivered.  The costs of delivering this development would be 
high and the airfield was still used by RAF Benson.  

(4) Geoffrey Botting, chairman of the Woodcote Neighbourhood Plan team, made a 
statement regarding the local plan housing allocations to larger villages.  He 
was concerned that the new local plan placed greater burdens on larger villages 
such as Woodcote, yet the government’s recent proposals reduced the housing 
requirement in South Oxfordshire.  The contingency allowed in the local plan 
would represent over-provision.  However, Mr Botting accepted the revised 
wording suggested by officers in the addendum to the report.  

32 Local Plan to 2033 

Cabinet considered the head of planning’s report, which proposed the publication of 
the Local Plan to 2033, under Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, as the version of the plan proposed to 
be submitted to the Secretary of State for independent examination.  

The chairman invited Councillor David Turner to address Cabinet.  Mr Turner urged 
Cabinet to remove Chalgrove airfield from the sites allocated for housing 
development in the local plan.  He believed the development would not be deliverable 
as the airfield was used regularly by RAF Benson.  Building homes close to the 
RAF’s testing area would lead to noise complaints from new residents.  There were 
no satisfactory transport connections to cope with the increased number of cars and 
no plans to increase bus services.  This development would be unsustainable.  
Demand for houses in Chalgrove was being met by the neighbourhood plan.  
Development of the airfield was not supported locally, by the parish council, or by the 
county council.  

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



The Scrutiny Committee had debated the local plan and had supported it, together 
with the inclusion of the major housing site allocations at Culham and Chalgrove.  

The officers had produced an addendum to the report, setting out changes proposed 
since the Scrutiny Committee meeting.  The addendum was made available at the 
meeting, its main points included:

 Amending the wording on housing density to encourage proposals that sought 
to deliver higher quality and higher density development to minimise land take 

 Releasing an area of the Green Belt at Wheatley to support the 
neighbourhood planning group’s aspirations to allocate land for mixed use 
development, recognising the previous openness of the Green Belt and the 
exceptional circumstances in this case 

 Increasing the target for self-build housing to promote this as a route to home 
ownership 

 Further developing a high-quality cycle network and improvements to public 
transport provision 

 Requiring a detailed evidence base to support each neighbourhood 
development plan and its assessment of capacity in market towns and larger 
villages 

 Clarifying that only a limited number of homes would be required prior to the 
delivery of planned transport infrastructure at Culham 

Cabinet agreed with the changes listed in the addendum and referred to above, 
except for further developing a high-quality cycle network and improvements to public 
transport provision as this was already included as local plan policy.  

The Cabinet member for strategic policy recognised the difficulties experienced by 
the council without a five-year housing land supply, which had resulted in some 
development proposals being lost on appeal.  He commended the work of the officers 
on the local plan and believed that this offered a firm plan to local residents.  The 
council had a duty to co-operate with neighbouring councils and had agreed to the 
distribution across the county of Oxford’s unmet housing need.  The local plan 
provided a reasonable contribution of 3,750 homes toward that unmet need.  

Last week the government had published proposals for consultation that recalculated 
the housing requirement using a nationwide formula.  This suggested lower numbers 
of housing required for South Oxfordshire.  However, the Cabinet member 
recommended that as this was a government consultation at this stage, and the final 
proposals would not be available until 2018, the council should proceed with its work 
on the local plan.  Using the government’s proposed housing numbers would require 
significant re-working of the local plan and would delay achieving a five-year housing 
land supply, the result being the council would continue to be open to speculative 
development.  Councils could plan for higher housing numbers but this did not mean 
all of those homes would be built.  The market would dictate the pace of 
development.  Significant job growth was being planned for in Oxfordshire.  By 
planning for development, the council would provide more certainty for businesses.  
More houses would give more choice, and would provide more security for 
neighbourhood plans.  If the government’s final proposals reduced the housing 
requirement then the local plan housing numbers could be reviewed at the 
examination stage in 2018.  

Cabinet noted that in the past year, 722 homes had been completed in South 
Oxfordshire.  Currently the council had 4.1 years of housing land supply, which would 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



rise to 6.1 years on approving the local plan.  Taking into account the Oxford’s unmet 
housing need, the council had 3.9 years housing land supply, rising to 5.5 years after 
approving the local plan.  These figures did not include any development in the 
Green Belt.  

Cabinet agreed with the Cabinet member that the council should proceed with its 
local plan and retain the strategic housing sites at Culham and Chalgrove.  Once the 
government’s proposals to change the calculation of the housing requirement had 
been finalised, then the local plan’s housing numbers could be reviewed at the 
examination stage.  

Cabinet considered that there were exceptional circumstances to allocate the 
strategic housing site at Culham and remove it from the Green Belt.  It was adjacent 
to the Culham Science Centre employment site and had good transport links, both 
railway and road.  It would also benefit from the planned infrastructure improvements 
of a new Thames crossing from Culham to Didcot and the proposed Clifton Hampden 
bypass.  It would also be part of the Didcot Garden Town proposed garden line with 
cycle routes and autonomous vehicles.  

Turning to the proposed housing allocation at Chalgrove airfield, Cabinet noted that 
the Ministry of Defence had informed the council that it had not held rights to use the 
airfield since the airfield’s ownership had transferred.  The development of the site for 
housing would not be affected by RAF Benson.  In time for the Council meeting on 28 
September 2017, officers were asked to obtain a formal statement from the Ministry 
of Defence on its interest in Chalgrove airfield.  Cabinet considered that the 
redevelopment of this site for housing would be a good re-use of land.  The Homes 
and Communities Agency was committed to improve infrastructure to facilitate the 
development and bring benefits to existing residents.  

RECOMMENDED to Council on 28 September 2017 to: 

(a) approve the publication version of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan and 
associated documents, for publication under Regulation 19 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, as the version 
of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan proposed to be submitted to the Secretary 
of State for independent examination; 

(b) authorise the head of planning, in consultation with the Cabinet member for 
planning, to make any necessary minor amendments and corrections including 
the identification of any saved plan policies as considered appropriate prior to:

 publication of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan; and 
 submission of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan to the Secretary of State 

for independent examination and leading up to and during the 
examination.

RESOLVED: to 

(c) agree the proposed strategic allocation at Culham remains in the publication 
version of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan; 

(d) agree that the proposed strategic allocation at Chalgrove Airfield remains in the 
publication version of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan; and 

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



(e) agree the changes set out in the attached briefing note as changes to the 
publication version of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan.  

33 Exclusion of the Public 

RESOLVED: to exclude members of the press and public from the meeting for the 
following item of business under Part 1 of Schedule 12A Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 and as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) (Variation) Order 2006 on the grounds that: 

i. it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, 
and

ii. the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs 
the public interest in disclosing the information.

34 Market Place Mews, Henley 

Cabinet agreed to dispose of land at Market Place Mews, Henley.  

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Cabinet

HELD ON THURSDAY 5 OCTOBER 2017 AT 6.00 PM
MEETING ROOM 1, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, OX14 4SB

Present:
John Cotton (Chairman), Jane Murphy (Vice-Chairman), Felix Bloomfield, Elizabeth 
Gillespie, Tony Harbour, Lynn Lloyd and Robert Simister

Apologies:
David Nimmo-Smith tendered apologies. 

Officers: 
Gerry Brough, Steve Culliford, William Jacobs, Margaret Reed, Ricardo Rios, Mark 
Stone, Sally Truman, and Christopher Wheeler, 

Also present: 
Councillor Richard Pullen and Rhona Bellis (Capita Accountancy)

35 Apologies for absence 

Councillor David Nimmo-Smith had sent his apologies for absence.  

36 Minutes 

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 3 August 2017 as a 
correct record and agree that the Chairman signs them as such.

37 Declaration of disclosable pecuniary interest 

None

38 Urgent business and chairman's announcements 

None

39 Public participation 

None

Page 11

Agenda Item 2



40 Didcot Garden Town delivery plan 

Cabinet considered the report of the head of development, regeneration and housing.  
The report set out the consultation response to the Didcot Garden Town draft delivery 
plan and set out proposed changes.  Cabinet was asked to approve the delivery plan.  

Cabinet recalled that Didcot had been granted garden town status by the 
government, following a joint bid by the council, Vale of White Horse District Council, 
Oxfordshire County Council, and the Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership.  The 
delivery plan document had been produced to set out actions to transform Didcot into 
a garden town, to detail the funding required for key projects, and to act as a 
prospectus to government to justify the need for funding to establish a delivery team, 
provide support for the governance arrangements, and initiate and deliver key 
projects.  The options before Cabinet were to approve the delivery plan as amended 
or to require further changes.  Scrutiny Committee had commended the report and 
supported the delivery plan.  

Cabinet considered that the approval of the delivery plan would be positive for Didcot 
and would address many of the negative impacts affecting economic and population 
growth in the area.  Didcot Garden Town was a high priority for the council and had 
attracted significant financial support to improve infrastructure.  Approving the plan 
would allow the actions to be implemented.  Cabinet agreed to approve the delivery 
plan and embed it as council policy.  Officers were asked to ensure planning 
decisions did not conflict with the Didcot Garden Town delivery plan.  

Cabinet welcomed the appointment of Elizabeth Paris as chair of the Didcot Garden 
Town Board and noted that the Board’s first meeting would be held in early 
November.  

RESOLVED: to  

(a) approve the contents of the Didcot Garden Town Delivery Plan, set out in 
appendix 1 to the head of development, regeneration and housing’s report, and 
adopt it as a corporate policy document that sets out the council’s aspirations 
for managing Didcot’s future economic, housing and population growth; 

(b) require officers to incorporate the delivery plan into the council’s planning policy 
framework, through the production of a Didcot Garden Town development plan 
document and/or appropriate supplementary planning documents; 

(c) agree to appoint Elizabeth Paris, Deputy Lord Lieutenant of Oxfordshire, as the 
Chair of Didcot Garden Town Board for a period of up to four years; 

(d) agree that sub-groups operating under the auspices of the Didcot Garden Town 
Board are governed by an agreed set of operating guidelines, similar to those 
set out in appendix 2 to the head of development, regeneration and housing’s 
report, and that determining the final nature of these be delegated to the Didcot 
Garden Town Board, in consultation with the council’s head of legal and 
democratic services and lead Cabinet members; 

(e) agree that the Places for People “Placemaking Hub Framework Contract” 
(appendix 3 to the report) will be used to appoint future technical advisers to the 
Didcot Garden Town Board, in all areas apart from Lot 4 (Engineering 

Page 12

Agenda Item 2



Consultancy) where a wider competition should be run to appoint a suitable 
consultancy adviser in this service area; 

(f) authorise the chief executive, in consultation with both council leaders, to 
address the Didcot Garden Town staffing matters within the forthcoming 
restructuring proposals; 

(g) agree that previously received Department for Communities and Local 
Government’s capacity grant funding relating to Didcot Garden Town, which has 
still to be committed, will be made available to the Didcot Garden Town Delivery 
Group to facilitate implementation of the Didcot Garden Town Delivery Plan, 
subject to approved delegated authority levels and the application of normal 
council spending controls and reporting.  

41 Local lottery scheme 

Cabinet considered the head of corporate services’ report on the implementation of a 
local lottery scheme.  The introduction of this scheme was in the corporate plan as a 
priority to raise funds that could be redistributed to benefit local community groups 
and charities and generate funding for the local voluntary and community sector.  The 
scheme would allow charities and community groups to advertise their events and 
would provide people with a choice on how the lottery money should be spent.  

Cabinet noted that the options were to deliver a local lottery scheme through either 
an external lottery manager or manage it in-house.  Cabinet preferred to seek an 
external lottery manager that had experience of running such operations.  

Cabinet agreed to introduce a local lottery scheme but recognised that there would 
need to be further discussion on how the income was allocated.  

RESOLVED: to 

(a) approve the business case for the establishment of a local lottery scheme and 
authorise the head of corporate services, in consultation with the relevant 
Cabinet member, to determine the operational and management processes for 
the scheme; 

(b) approve the appointment of Gatherwell Ltd as the external lottery manager; 

(c) agree that the head of corporate services and the policy & partnership manager 
be the licence holders and authorise them to submit the necessary application 
to the Gambling Commission; 

(d) agree the eligibility criteria for groups who are able to sign up to the lottery, 
attached to the report of the head of corporate services; and 

(e) agree that the ongoing costs, capped at £2,000 per annum, should be met from 
the general income received.  

42 Treasury outturn 2016/17 

Cabinet considered the head of finance’s report, which monitored the outturn of the 
council’s treasury management function in 2016/17.  This showed that the council 

Page 13

Agenda Item 2



had achieved a higher rate of return than the target income for the year.  The returns 
had also exceeded the market benchmarks.  

The Joint Audit and Governance Committee had welcomed the report and was 
satisfied that the treasury activities had been carried out in accordance with the 
treasury management strategy and policy.  Cabinet concurred but asked officers to 
review the treasury management strategy to assess whether the council should be 
taking more risk and getting a better rate of return.  

RECOMMENDED: to 

(a) approve the head of finance’s treasury management outturn report for 2016/17; 
and  

(b) approve the actual 2016/17 prudential indicators within the head of finance’s 
report.  

43 Brightwell-cum-Sotwell Neighbourhood Plan 

Cabinet considered the head of planning’s report regarding the Brightwell-cum-
Sotwell Neighbourhood Plan.  The report confirmed that the plan had met legal 
requirements and had received a majority vote in favour at a local referendum.  
Cabinet welcomed the neighbourhood plan.  

RECOMMENDED: to  

(a) make the Brightwell-cum-Sotwell Neighbourhood Development Plan so that it 
continues to be part of the council’s development plan; and 

(a) authorise the head of planning, in agreement with the Qualifying Body, to 
correct any spelling, grammatical, typographical or factual errors, together with 
any improvements from a presentational perspective.  

44 Chinnor Neighbourhood Plan 

Cabinet considered the head of planning’s report regarding the Chinnor 
Neighbourhood Plan.  The report confirmed that the plan had met legal requirements 
and had received a majority vote in favour at a local referendum.  Cabinet welcomed 
the neighbourhood plan.  

RECOMMENDED: to   

(a) make the Chinnor Neighbourhood Development Plan so that it continues to be 
part of the council’s development plan; and 

(b) authorise the head of planning, in agreement with the Qualifying Body, to 
correct any spelling, grammatical, typographical or factual errors, together with 
any improvements from a presentational perspective.

45 Long Wittenham Neighbourhood plan 

Cabinet considered the head of planning’s report regarding the Long Wittenham 
Neighbourhood Plan.  The report confirmed that the plan had met legal requirements 

Page 14

Agenda Item 2



and had received a majority vote in favour at a local referendum.  Cabinet welcomed 
the neighbourhood plan.  

RECOMMENDED: to  

(a) make the Long Wittenham Neighbourhood Development Plan so that it 
continues to be part of the council’s development plan; and 

(b) authorise the head of planning, in agreement with the Qualifying Body, to 
correct any spelling, grammatical, typographical or factual errors, together with 
any improvements from a presentational perspective.  

The meeting closed at 7.00 pm

Chairman Date

Page 15

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Minutes
OF A SPECIAL MEETING OF THE
Cabinet

HELD ON TUESDAY 14 NOVEMBER 2017 AT 9.00 AM
135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, OX14 4SB

Present: John Cotton (Chairman), Jane Murphy (Vice-Chairman), Felix Bloomfield, 
Tony Harbour, Lynn Lloyd, David Nimmo-Smith and Robert Simister

Officers: Ben Coleman, Steve Culliford, Liz Hayden, William Jacobs, Ian Matten, 
Adrianna Partridge, Margaret Reed, Mark Stone, and Christopher Wheeler

Also present: Councillors Toby Newman, Caroline Newton, Richard Pullen and 
David Turner

46 Apologies for absence 

Councillor Elizabeth Gillespie had sent her apologies for absence.  

47 Declaration of disclosable pecuniary interest 

None

48 Urgent business and chairman's announcements 

None

49 Public participation 

None

50 Exclusion of the Public 

RESOLVED: to exclude members of the press and public from the meeting for the 
following item of business under Part 1 of Schedule 12A Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 and as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) (Variation) Order 2006 on the grounds that: 
(i) it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and
(ii) the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 

disclosing the information.

51 New office accommodation at Crowmarsh Gifford 

Cabinet agreed to progress a new council headquarters at Crowmarsh Gifford.  

Page 17

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Report

Report of Head of Development, Regeneration and Housing
Author: Helen Novelle
Telephone: 01265 422451
Textphone: 18001 01235 422451
E-mail: helen.novelle@southandvale.gov.uk 
Wards affected:
South Cabinet member responsible: Cllr Lynn Lloyd
Tel: 01844 354313
E-mail: lynn.lloyd@southoxon.gov.uk 
Vale Cabinet member responsible: Cllr Elaine Ware
Tel: 01793 783026
E-mail: elaine.ware@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 
To: CABINET
Dates: South: 7th December 2017   Vale: 8th December 2017

Joint Housing Delivery Strategy 2018 - 
2028

Recommendation

That approval is given for the adoption of the Joint Housing Delivery Strategy 2018 – 
2028.  

Purpose of Report

1. To present to Cabinet a report on the results of public consultation on the draft Joint 
Housing Delivery Strategy

2. To seek approval for the adoption of the Joint Housing Delivery Strategy 2018 - 2028 
by Vale Cabinet and South Cabinet.  

Corporate Objectives 

3. Contributing towards the delivery of the right balance of types and tenure of new 
homes to meet housing need and support economic growth.

CONFIDENTIAL

Page 19

Agenda Item 6

mailto:helen.novelle@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:lynn.lloyd@southoxon.gov.uk
mailto:elaine.ware@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


Background

4. A draft joint housing delivery strategy has been developed with the support of a sound 
base of evidence arising from research undertaken by Wessex Economics Ltd who 
were commissioned by the councils. 

5. A housing study plus five background papers produced by the consultants to support 
the development of the strategy were made available to the Scrutiny Committees for 
both South and Vale and all of these research documents were also made publicly 
available through the public consultation process. 

6. The draft strategy has been previously presented to Cabinet members and Scrutiny 
Committees and the consultation plan was subsequently presented to Cabinet 
members. The consultation period ran for 4 weeks closing at midnight on Monday 23rd 
October 2017 with just under 200 completed responses received.  The responses have 
now been reviewed and were presented to Cabinet members and a summary of the 
main issues raised is presented with this report.

Consultation summary

Methodology 

7. The consultation sought to provide members of the public and interested stakeholder 
groups with the opportunity to comment on the draft Joint Housing Delivery Strategy 
and was carried out in line with the council’s Public Engagement Charter.

8. The consultation was promoted on both council websites, via the council social media 
accounts, two press releases to local media, posters in libraries, leisure centres and 
other community venues, and by direct invitations sent to stakeholder organisations.

9. A survey questionnaire was available for completion on-line and the draft Joint Housing 
Delivery Strategy and the full suite of supporting evidence documentation was also 
accessible on –line.  Paper copies of both the survey and draft Joint Housing Delivery 
Strategy were provided on request.

10.  Stakeholder engagement also took place prior to the public consultation launch.

11.  A stakeholder contact plan identified a range of organisations and people who may be 
affected by the strategy’s proposals and to consider the appropriate level of contact 
with these groups, including 1-2-1 meetings, in order to better understand the views of 
these groups. 

12.Specific events/meetings were set up to enable direct engagement with organisations 
and individuals.

13.The public consultation survey sought views on three main topics in relation to the draft 
strategy:
 - the challenges faced in delivering sufficient number of homes
 - the aims and objectives of the strategy
 - the actions set out within the ten-year action plan

Key findings

Page 20

Agenda Item 6



14.Overall, half of the respondents were in general agreement with the challenges, aims 
and objectives and the action plan, although it was clear from the repetition of certain 
comments that there are areas of significant concern to residents.

15.The most commonly raised issue was for the need for infrastructure to be in place 
ahead of housing development with concerns over the cumulative impact of house 
building on the environment

16.Disagreement over the number and need for new homes was also frequently 
mentioned.

17.These areas of concern produced the relatively few responses expressing strong 
disagreement with the strategy.

18.The draft housing delivery strategy explained that setting the numbers of homes to be 
delivered is not within its remit and that this is dealt with through the Local Plan 
process.  However, it is evident that the majority of these concerns raised relate to 
planning policy matters and that there has been a general misunderstanding amongst 
these respondents on the purpose of the housing delivery strategy.  

19.The aim of the strategy is to explain how the councils will work proactively to enable a 
wider range of housing opportunities to be delivered that will more closely meet the 
needs of residents with positive benefits to our communities, and that it is not about 
setting housing targets. 

20.The need for more affordable housing due to the general lack of affordability of market 
properties was frequently commented on and several respondents saw the role of the 
councils as direct deliverers of affordable housing as important.

21. In general, the overall responses received demonstrate that a proactive approach by 
the councils in delivering the right type of housing as set out across the strategy’s ten-
year action plan will produce positive outcomes and help to build successful 
communities. 

Equality Impact Check

22.The equality impact check concluded that the joint housing delivery strategy will not 
have a negative impact or discriminate.

23.The strategy includes actions to delivery specialist housing that meets the needs of 
specific groups including older persons.

Options

24.Do Nothing: Failing to adopt a housing strategy would mean that officers and members 
of the public are unaware of Council’s objectives and priorities, and how they hope to 
achieve these, in relation to housing

25.Produce a different strategy from the one proposed: The proposed strategy is well 
founded on comprehensive independent research. It proposes clear actions that will 
achieve objectives identified as being highly relevant to improving the lives of local 
residents through the provision of better housing and more options as to the type of 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



housing available. The proposed strategy is in line with the findings of the background 
research.

26.Adopt the proposed strategy: For the reasons touched on above, the proposed strategy 
represents a well-balanced, realistic strategy that addresses the issues raised in the 
background research, bearing in mind the resources available to the Council to 
implement the strategy and encourage housing providers to deliver the type and variety 
of housing required at an affordable cost to local residents.  The results of the public 
consultation have shown a positive response to the aims and objectives of the strategy 
and the proposed action plan.

Financial Implications

27.Production of the strategy and the subsequent cost of producing a published document 
has been/will be funded from existing budgets.

28.The majority of work set out in the action plan can be achieved using existing 
resources.  Where additional resources may be required, it is anticipated that this will 
be through the usual ‘growth bid’ process.

Legal Implications

29.There are no known legal implications relating to adoption of the strategy 

Risks

30.That the strategy does not have the desired impact i.e. by encouraging a change in the 
behaviour of housing providers and fails to achieve its stated objectives.

Other implications

31.  None

Conclusion

32.Both South and Vale have been without an up to date housing strategy for a number of 
years, the omission of which reduces the councils’ ability to defend their existing 
housing policies and to create new policies which will enhance future provision.

33.The work that has been undertaken to support the development of a new joint housing 
strategy has provided a clear set of recommendations with a focus on the need for the 
councils to take on the role of ‘housing delivery enabler’ to ensure that challenging 
housing targets can be met.

34.  More importantly, the direction recommended in the action plan will enable the 
councils to be more in control over the future of housing developments in both districts. 

Background Papers

None

Page 22

Agenda Item 6



DRAFT JOINT HOUSING 
DELIVERY STRATEGY
For South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse

2018-2028

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 6



South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils have 
identified the need to build a significant number of new homes over 
the next 14 – 16 years. This represents a considerable challenge for 
both districts.

The number of new homes we need and the areas where they  
will be built, are detailed in the South Oxfordshire and Vale of  
White Horse local plans. 

www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/localplan 
www.southoxon.gov.uk/newlocalplan

The new Joint Housing Delivery Strategy will work alongside our 
local plans to guide how we will meet our housebuilding targets by 
proactively working with landowners, developers, local communities 
and infrastructure providers, helping to bring sites forward and 
working with existing and new partners to develop innovative 
housing solutions.

It is important that developers are given clear guidance on the 
councils’ priorities for delivering new homes of the right type,  
in the right place and at the right time, which meet required   
housing standards.

We also recognise the need to actively seek out opportunities to 
buy land and explore partnerships to help us expand the range of 
housing options available to local residents in both districts and/or 
secure the level of development required.

The principal aim of our strategy’s ten-year action plan is to ensure 
we achieve the rate of housing delivery required to meet the growing 
need, as set out in the South Oxfordshire Local Plan and Vale of 
White Horse Local Plan. The action plan will allow us to initiate, 
develop and progress a range of initiatives that will encourage new 
house building that more closely reflects the aspirations and needs 
of people currently living, or wishing to live, in our districts.

FOREWORD

2JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY     2018 - 2028         

Scope and purpose 
of the strategyP6 

The joint housing 
delivery strategyP8 

Implementation and 
action planP12 

P17 

Scope and purpose
of the joint housing 
delivery strategy

Summary and 
Conclusion

Background to the 
strategyP5 

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 6

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/localplan 
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/newlocalplan


1.  Housing is an important issue for everyone and new homes should aim to meet 
the needs of all sections of the community.  Housing is also key to a successful 
economy by supporting businesses that can attract and retain staff because 
there are enough homes at prices people can afford.

2.  South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils are facing a 
significant challenge relating to the delivery of new homes.    
This Housing Delivery Strategy aims to provide direction on how this challenge 
can be met whilst making sure that our local communities can benefit by:

    -   ensuring that housing development can progress with minimal delay and 
disruption to residents

  -  delivering homes of good quality

   -   building housing that is suitable for everyone including enabling independent 
living and providing homes that are affordable to those whose needs are not 
met by the market

3.  South Oxfordshire District Council and Vale of White Horse District Council 
(hereafter referred to as South and Vale) are planning to enable development 
of new homes, in line with the Objectively Assessed Housing Need (OAHN) 
for both districts originally set out in the Oxfordshire Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (SHMA) 2014. 

4.  Reflecting the most recently published local plan documentation, South is 
planning to deliver 23,500 homes over the period 2011 – 2033.  

  The Vale is planning to deliver 20,560 homes over the period 2011 – 2031 as set 
out in the Adopted Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part one.  

5.  It is acknowledged that as local plans are examined and adopted, the target 
figures they contain may differ from those set out in this document and any 
necessary amendment will be part of the ongoing review process set out in the 
action plan.

6.  Recent announcements for a proposed change in the methodology for 
calculating the Objectively Assessed Need may also impact on housing figures 
and the strategy will be revised accordingly.

7.  This planned housing development is not just about delivering a certain number 
of buildings.  There is also a need to make sure that new homes are of a high 
quality and deliver a wide range of tenure options, in the right locations, to 
support planned economic growth and ensure that vulnerable people have 
access to homes that enable them to live independently.  

8.  The supply of a high volume and wide range of housing, including affordable 
housing, is viewed as critical to the future growth of our local economies, as 
highlighted in South and Vale’s respective corporate plans. The councils’ focus 
will be to drive the delivery of housing in a way that enables greater control over 
site locations, standards and local involvement.

9.  This Joint Housing Delivery Strategy has been developed following a significant 
amount of additional independent research and sets out the actions and policies 
needed to deliver these new homes and achieve the mix of homes needed in 
terms of tenure, size and type of dwelling.  

10.  Of particular importance is the need to develop much of the future housing in 
partnership with local people – chiefly in coordination with Neighbourhood Plans 
which have the potential to make a significant contribution to achieving the aims 
of this Joint Housing Delivery Strategy.

INTRODUCTION 

3JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY     2018 - 2028          

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 6



4

11. The scale of the challenge can be summarised as follows:

 •  Over the remaining years of the local plan period, Both South and Vale 
will need to increase the annual delivery of new homes each year, when 
compared to average annual delivery of new homes already achieved in the 
first five years of each district’s plan period.

 •  Plan-led approaches determine a number of homes on the basis of 
objectively assessed need, which combines a number of factors.

 •  Plan-led systems usually work on the allocation of land that is sufficient to 
meet the requirement to deliver the number of homes determined by the 
objectively assessed need.

 •  Capacity within the house-building industry impacts on rates of construction 
for a number of reasons, including labour shortages and increases in the 
costs of materials.

 •  The whole housing construction process is extremely complex, from 
planning application and consent (cost of infrastructure, funding subsidised 
housing, timescales just to get to the stage where land is ready for 
development) through to a completed development that is further impacted 
including labour force and supply chain matters.

CHALLENGES IN BOOSTING HOUSING DELIVERY

JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY     2018 - 2028            

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 6



12.  A sound evidence base is essential to the creation of any strategy. Accordingly, 
South and Vale councils appointed Wessex Economics Limited to undertake a 
detailed research study that provides a strategic framework for assessing  
current and future housing requirements, to meet the needs of our communities 
and the local economy. This study also considered potential barriers to 
progressing housing development, such as infrastructure issues, and how  
these might be overcome.

13.  The final report and supporting background research documentation1 is a major 
piece of evidence-based work that provides the councils with a clear set of 
findings and recommendations. The suite of documents produced can be  
viewed here for further information2.

 1  Housing Study:  to support the development of a Joint Housing Strategy for South Oxfordshire 
and Vale of White Horse - Final Report. Wessex Economics Ltd

  2  Findings arising from the research undertaken were reviewed by various housing    
organisations including developers and Registered Providers before final production of these 
documents 

14. The report and supporting research papers provides:

  1)  A profile of the current demand and supply for housing stock in the districts, 
and the current gaps in provision.  

 2)  From a demand perspective, an  evaluation of the socio-demographic 
make-up of people that already live in the districts and want to move to the 
districts, especially for high value jobs and their specific needs in terms of 
housing, in line with the economic forecasting to support the SHMA. 

 3)  From a supply perspective, an evaluation of the current asset/stock base 
and an understanding of how it maps to demand both now and in the future, 
based on the councils’ plans for economic development.

 4)  Projections of future demand for housing based on the different 
employment scenarios which underpin the SHMA. In particular the need 
to understand the impact on the job profile across the socio economic 
groups and therefore the location and type of appropriate housing including 
at particular locations such as Harwell Campus and near to the Culham 
Science Centre. 

 5)  A baseline in terms of current housing development delivery across both 
districts and an assessment of the obstacles preventing and opportunities 
for accelerating housing delivery in both districts

15.  The evidence-based report focussed on the following four separate, but 
interconnected housing themes relating to the delivery of new-build housing, 

 • Delivering housing numbers.

 • Providing an appropriate range of housing. 

 • Delivering housing to support forecast economic growth.

 • Improving standards in new homes.

5

BACKGROUND

JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY     2018 - 2028            

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 6

https://files.smartsurvey.io/2/0/ZD6BCVI8/Housing_Delivery_Strategy__Background_Papers_.pdf


SCOPE AND PURPOSE OF THE JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY

6

16.  The main objective of the Joint Housing Delivery Strategy is to outline the 
means by which South and Vale Councils can deliver the councils’ significant 
new-build housing numbers and how these homes can meet a wide range of 
need across our districts.  

17. This objective can best be achieved by:

 • Adopting a ‘housing delivery enabler’ role. 

 • Increasing the level of private sector investment in new housing delivery.

 •  Increasing the level of public sector expenditure (principally in 
infrastructure) as a percentage of total investment in new   
housing delivery.  

 •  Working in close collaboration with the Homes and Communities 
Agency (HCA), land owners and developers to secure sites, master plan 
developments and obtain government funding to deliver;

  n  The right balance of types and tenure of new homes to meet housing 
need, support economic growth and address Didcot’s Garden Town 
priorities.

  n  A range of low cost home ownership options that provide first-time 
entry points to home ownership.

  n A good supply of affordable rented homes for those unable to buy.

  n  Suitable housing that enables older people and people with other 
specialist housing needs to live independently.

  n  Self-build and custom build initiative and ensuring land is made 
available for this purpose.

  n Opportunities arising from neighbourhood plans.

 •  Working with partners to overcome infrastructure bottlenecks that impact 
adversely on business competitiveness and new residential site delivery. 

 •  Working in partnership with neighbourhood plan groups where housing 
development opportunities are identified.

 •  Bringing forward development where there are gaps in provision, by using 
council resources and available government funding to establish effective, 
alternative delivery mechanisms.

JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY     2018 - 2028            

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 6



7

18.  This focus on new housing provision means that the Housing Delivery 
Strategy will therefore broadly support the development of policies that 
encourage more new-build housing and better quality new build housing  
that adheres to each council’s design guide, is of appropriate size and   
caters for the accessibility and adaptability requirements of people living 
with physical disabilities.

 19.  The production of neighbourhood plans is seen as a key contributor for 
achieving the types of new homes that people want to see delivered locally 
and the councils will work in partnership with both town and rural parishes in 
developing housing initiatives to support the ambitions of these plans, taking 
into account the different stages of local plan development for each council.

20.  In South Oxfordshire, neighbourhood planning has a significant role to play 
in helping to determine the scale, location and timing of new housing sites. 
This responsibility for market towns and larger villages is set out in the local 
plan. It is considered that the most appropriate mechanism through which new 
housing development takes place at this level is through the neighbourhood 
planning process. 

21.  As Vale’s Local Plan is already adopted, there is no requirement for 
neighbourhood plans to allocate housing sites; they can of course do so if they 
wish to and this is a matter for the neighbourhood planning groups to take 
forward. Plans may, for example, allocate small sites to support the provision 
of affordable housing locally. Plans can also make a significant contribution 
to planning for their areas across wider policy areas, including for example: 
heritage, environment, or green space. 

22.   The provision of new housing also underpins South and Vale’s commitment 
to reducing homelessness. Accordingly, in recognition of the importance of 
this issue, South and Vale have produced a separate joint document for a 
Homelessness Strategy. This document is specific and comprehensive with 
targets designed to meet South and Vale’s statutory duty towards people who 
are homeless or at risk of homelessness. This strategy document can be 
viewed via the links below:

 Vale: viewed here 
 South: viewed here

23.  Also, the proposed action plan linked to this strategy (see table on page 13-16) 
takes into account the fact that the Local Plans for Vale of White Horse and 
South Oxfordshire are at different stages.

SCOPE AND PURPOSE OF THE JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY

JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY     2018 - 2028                

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 6

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-and-advice/housing/housing-policies
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/housing/housing-policies


8

24.  The strategy is underpinned by the research findings and an action plan based 
on recommendations will necessarily require a long-term strategy, since it’s 
main objective is to deliver the councils’ significant new-build housing targets 
over the next fifteen years.

25.  However, to assist with delivery, the strategy has been segmented into three 
time frames, years 1-3, years 4-6 and years 7-10.

In Years 1-3, the strategy will involve the following actions;

 A.  Building the Council’s capacity to develop a “housing enabler” role. This 
can best be achieved by focussing on the areas identified in Figure 1 below.

 

 

  

Figure 1:  Steps in Developing the Housing Enabler Role     Source: Wessex Economics

 B.  Completing work on the local plan framework for delivery of new housing. 

 C.  Ensuring that essential systems for processing planning applications, 
monitoring performance and forward planning are in place.

 D.  Working with developers to unblock obstacles on large strategic 
sites which will deliver new homes over a long period, to ensure 
commencement of construction at the earliest opportunity.   

  E.  Producing proposals for Council acquisition of land or investment 
in development will be undertaken, along with early scoping of the 
merits of the Councils taking on an a lead role in Infrastructure 
Dependencies Mapping and Infrastructure Co-ordination for 
developments across South and Vale.

  F.  Developing a checklist to consider the tenure balance on new 
development sites. The councils may need to ensure schemes reflect 
emerging national government policy as it is adopted, including for 
example, discounted market sale. 

 

THE JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY

1. Forward planning of housing delivery

 R
es

ou
rc

e 
an

d 
    

    
    

  
st

aff
 p

la
nn

in
g

Pr
io

rit
is

at
io

n2. Development management & planning

3.  Co-ordination of infrastructure investment

4.  Increasing the diversity of housing delivery

5.  Exploring the scope for direct Local Authority 
investment in land & development

JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY     2018 - 2028           

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 6



9

 G.  Seeking to adopt the standards for Building Regulations Part M (4) 
Category 2 ‘accessible and adaptable’ dwellings on all affordable 
housing3. The Nationally Described Space Standards Level 1 will also 
be applied to affordable housing. For market housing, the Councils will 
seek 15% Category 2 standard and application of the minimum (1 and 2 
bedroom) space standard.      
NOTE: These recommendations recognise the need for viability testing 
through the planning process

 H.  Adopting policies that include provision in both affordable and market 
housing for housing to be built, or be capable of adaptation prior to 
occupation, to Part M (4) Category 3 standard, so that homes are 
available for households with more specialised mobility needs. 
NOTE: These recommendations recognise the need for viability testing 
through the planning process.

 I.  Reviewing the strategy at the end of year 3 to determine whether it needs 
to be adjusted or updated.

    3   “ Access to and use of buildings: Approved Document M” (updated March 2016) – 
Department of Communities and Local Government  

26.  The main aim of the strategy in this phase, is to ensure that the current 
mainstream mechanisms for housing delivery are operating at maximum 
capacity. 

27. In years 4-6, the strategy will involve the following actions; 

 J.   Introducing Infrastructure Dependencies Mapping as part of the Housing 
Delivery Enabler role. 

    This will ensure that housing is not delayed, by reason of poor co-
ordination of road and utility infrastructure investment.  This is not put 
forward as a short-term action because the approach is being piloted 
elsewhere (in the South East Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) area) 
and the Government has stated in the Housing White Paper that it will 
be investigating further how to ensure the utilities provide services that 
do not delay housing delivery.  Policy is therefore emerging and there is 
already a substantive work programme identified for the first three years 
of the strategy.

 

THE JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY

JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY     2018 - 2028          

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 6



THE JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY

10

 K. Diversifying housing delivery mechanisms.

   Currently the vast majority of housing delivery in South and Vale is 
associated with large and medium sized developers and provision of 
affordable rented and intermediate housing by Registered Providers, 
most through s106 agreements with private sector developers.

   In the medium term South and Vale will look to bring in additional 
development partners, to diversify the housing product in the area. 

   South and Vale officers will actively seek out these developers and 
explain why investing in South and Vale would be beneficial to them.  

   The efficiency of delivery of planning consents, the spirit of joint working 
and evidence of the robustness of the residential market for new homes for 
rent or sale, will be the essence of this pitch to developers and investors. 
The aim will be to convince them that South and Vale is a place actively 
wanting to promote development in accordance with its local plans.  

   South and Vale will also consider policies that are supportive of the other 
routes by which new homes may be provided, such as:

  − Development of specialist housing for older people

  − Small housebuilders

  − The custom and self-build sector

   The Councils will also explore whether the tenure of existing affordable 
housing could be flexed to take into account any differences in demand in 
either district such as remote rural locations.

  

JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY     2018 - 2028              

P
age 32

A
genda Item

 6



THE JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY

11

 L.   Generating opportunities for Local Authority Investment in land   
and development. 

   South and Vale will consider opportunities to identify sites that can be 
acquired by the Councils, where this would facilitate development quicker 
than might otherwise be the case or development of a more innovative 
nature (i.e. low energy housing or modular construction).

   South and Vale will also investigate how they might best present a strong 
case for the HCA purchasing sites as part of a land assembly process, 
especially in relation to Didcot Garden Town (in both South and Vale) and 
the Berinsfield Community Investment Scheme programme (South). 

   South and Vale will also work with local employers and Registered 
Providers (RP’s) to explore opportunities for delivering ‘key worker’ 
housing and consider whether a more flexible approach to the provision 
of this type of housing could improve take up. 

 M.  Reviewing progress at the end of year six, including a review of the 
tenure mix on new development sites, with updating where required. 

28. In Years 7-10, the strategy will involve the following actions;

 N.  Driving forward housing delivery through the Housing Delivery  
Enabling role.

   The expectation is that by the end of year six the Housing Delivery 
Enabler role will be fully functional, will be bearing fruit in terms of 
enhanced delivery of new homes through the traditional delivery models 
and the newer/additional delivery routes.  

    Didcot Garden Town and the Berinsfield initiatives should also be 
delivering new homes of different tenures and types in significant volumes.

 O.  Delivering new residential communities, including affordable housing and 
extra care provision.

   Recognising that some parts of our communities need a range of options 
more suitable to their circumstances such as ‘Affordable Private Rent’ 
for those not currently seeking to buy a property for a variety of reasons, 
or Extra Care Housing that can help older people to remain in their 
communities with the support they need.

 P.  Evaluating the impact of previous activities and outcomes over the 
previous ten years, to inform the development of a new ten year housing 
delivery strategy.  

   This strategy will cover the latter years of the South and Vale local plans 
and should provide a valuable tool to inform local plan preparation for the 
period beyond 2031.

JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY     2018 - 2028                

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 6



IMPLEMENTING THE JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY

12

29.  Successful implementation of the Joint Housing Delivery Strategy will be 
dependent on executing a number of key actions over the short, medium and 
long-term.

30.  These actions are set out in a Joint Housing Delivery Strategy Action Plan 
(see table 1 on page 13-16) that indicates when actions will be undertaken 
and by whom what the anticipated outcomes will be and how these actions 
relate to each of the four strategic themes identified in the research study/
framework document:

 www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/localplan 
 www.southoxon.gov.uk/newlocalplan

31.  Where elements of the strategy cannot be implemented within existing 
resources, this will be considered as part of the Council’s annual budgeting 
process, or sought from external funding sources such as the HCA or other 
development partners.

 

JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY     2018 - 2028            

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 6

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/localplan 
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/newlocalplan


13JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY     2018 - 2028            

Stra
teg

y 

Acti
on

s

Ta
sk

 R
ef

Ta
sk

s
Res

po
ns

ibil
ity

Exp
ec

ted
 

de
live

ry 
pe

rio
d

Exp
ec

ted
  

Outc
om

e

Deli
ve

rin
g  

tar
ge

ts

Prov
idi

ng
  

ap
pro

pri
ate

 ra
ng

e 

Sup
po

rtin
g  

Eco
no

mic G
row

th

 Im
pro

vin
g  

sta
nd

ard
s

Res
ou

rce
s

Timing Objectives achieved to deliver housing

B 01 Adoption of Local Plan Part 2 for 
Vale and Local Plan for South. Planning 1-3 Adopted local plans for both  

Local Authorities.

Can be 
achieved 
using existing 
resources.

A, C, D, 
L, N 02

Plan to allocate an appropriate 
and sufficient buffer of suitable 
sites for housing beyond the 5 
year supply target.

Planning 2-6

Greater control enabling allocation 
of good quality, appropriate sites.  
Councils in a better position to 
resist speculative applications and 
poor design.

Can be 
achieved 
using existing 
resources.

A, E, K, 
L, N 03 Promote identification of suitable 

smaller sites.
Planning Policy, 
Development 1-6

Opportunities identified in 
partnership with local parish councils 
and neighbourhood plan groups 
for sites that could address specific 
local need such as rural exception 
affordable homes, self-build etc.

Can be 
achieved 
using existing 
resources.

A, C, D, 
E, J, N 04

Map infrastructure dependency 
to prioritise those sites where 
there are no other barriers to 
development over sites with more 
complex issues.

Development,
Planning 3-10 Secure a pipeline of sites with no 

other barriers to commencement.

Can be 
achieved 
using existing 
resources.

A, C, F, 
K, L,  
N, O

05

Develop Supplementary Planning 
Documents (SPD), Local 
Development Orders (LDO)and 
other mechanisms as appropriate 
around major employment sites 
and, where appropriate, for areas 
of regeneration.

Development, 
Housing 2-6

Provision of a customised focus to 
housing development in areas to 
support economic growth.

May require 
additional 
resources 
(amount 
depends on 
number of 
SPD’s etc).

Table 1: JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY ACTION PLAN

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 6



Stra
teg

y 

Acti
on

s

Ta
sk

 R
ef

Ta
sk

s
Res

po
ns

ibil
ity

Exp
ec

ted
 

de
live

ry 
pe

rio
d

Exp
ec

ted
  

Outc
om

e

Deli
ve

rin
g  

tar
ge

ts

Prov
idi

ng
  

ap
pro

pri
ate

 ra
ng

e 

Sup
po

rtin
g  

Eco
no

mic G
row

th

 Im
pro

vin
g  

sta
nd

ard
s

Res
ou

rce
s

Timing Objectives achieved to deliver housing

14JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY     2018 - 2028              

A, D, F, 
G, H, K, 
N, O

06

Develop an Affordable Housing 
Supplementary Planning 
Document (AH SPD)
NOTE: Development of the AH 
SPD will take into consideration 
the outputs of viability testing 
through the local plan-making 
process and the potential need 
to consider other circumstances, 
when agreeing the space 
standards to be adopted for any 
particular development.

Development, 
Housing 1-3

Provision of clarity on the delivery 
of affordable housing requirements 
that will meet housing need in line 
with local plan policies.

Can be 
achieved 
using existing 
resources.

A, C, F, 
K, N, O 07

Review affordable housing 
policies to enable future 
provision to more accurately 
reflect changing needs in tenure, 
location etc.

Development,
Housing,
Planning

1-5

Flexibility of approach to 
determining most suitable 
affordable housing delivery will 
enable more effective processing of 
planning applications.

Can be 
achieved 
using existing 
resources.

G, H, K, 
O 08

Continue to work with the County 
Council to develop older person 
housing and other specialised 
housing.

Development,
Housing 1-6

Pipeline of good quality Extra Care 
Housing is continued.  Enables 
improved turnover of affordable and 
market family homes.

Can be 
achieved 
using existing 
resources.

C, H, G 09
Ensure local plan includes 
policies to secure delivery of 
specialised housing on strategic 
sites, as appropriate.

Development,
Planning 1-3 Pipeline of specialised schemes 

secured across both districts.

Can be 
achieved 
using existing 
resources.

Table 1: JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY ACTION PLAN

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 6



Stra
teg

y 

Acti
on

s

Ta
sk

 R
ef

Ta
sk

s
Res

po
ns

ibil
ity

Exp
ec

ted
 

de
live

ry 
pe

rio
d

Exp
ec

ted
  

Outc
om

e

Deli
ve

rin
g  

tar
ge

ts

Prov
idi

ng
  

ap
pro

pri
ate

 ra
ng

e 

Sup
po

rtin
g  

Eco
no

mic G
row

th

 Im
pro

vin
g  

sta
nd

ard
s

Res
ou

rce
s

Timing Objectives achieved to deliver housing

15JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY     2018 - 2028           

A, K, L, N 10

Support alternative tenures and 
forms of delivery where the aim is 
to help local workers, including, 
for example, through Community 
Land Trusts.

Development 1-6

Promotion of schemes with a 
particular local focus as part of the 
overall aim to introduce a much 
wider range of alternative housing 
delivery mechanisms.

Can be 
achieved 
using existing 
resources.

A, K, L, N 11
Work with RPs to provide shared 
housing for young workers under 
35 years old.

Development,
Housing 1-5

Supply of shared housing to provide 
a more affordable renting option for 
younger people.

May require 
additional 
resources.

A, K, L, 
N, O 12

Promote availability of private 
rented accommodation – such as 
‘affordable private rent’.

Development 
(especially 
Didcot Garden 
Town & 
Berinsfield)

2-6

Supply of rented accommodation 
that will positively contribute 
towards economic growth – in 
particular addressing issues of 
recruitment and retention
In addition, Affordable Private 
Rented schemes provide an 
opportunity to improve security of 
tenure with longer term leases.

Can be 
achieved 
using existing 
resources.

A, K, N, 
O 13

Work with major local employers, 
such as NHS and Harwell 
Campus, regarding land holdings 
suitable for housing.

Development 
(especially 
Didcot Garden 
Town & 
Berinsfield)

2-7
Delivery of output of site allocation 
from SPD’s for areas of major 
employment, regeneration.

Can be 
achieved 
using existing 
resources.

G 14

Inclusion of Nationally Described 
Space Standards for all new 
affordable homes and where 
needed for market housing 
(subject to viability).

Planning 1-3
Policies in place at early stage  
in the life of the Joint Housing 
Delivery Strategy.

Can be 
achieved 
using existing 
resources.

Table 1: JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY ACTION PLAN

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 6



Stra
teg

y 

Acti
on

s

Ta
sk

 R
ef

Ta
sk

s
Res

po
ns

ibil
ity

Exp
ec

ted
 

de
live

ry 
pe

rio
d

Exp
ec

ted
  

Outc
om

e

Deli
ve

rin
g  

tar
ge

ts

Prov
idi

ng
  

ap
pro

pri
ate

 ra
ng

e 

Sup
po

rtin
g  

Eco
no

mic G
row

th

 Im
pro

vin
g  

sta
nd

ard
s

Res
ou

rce
s

Timing Objectives achieved to deliver housing

16JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY     2018 - 2028             

G, H 15
Increase proportion of new 
affordable homes built to 
Category 2 and Category 3 
(subject to viability).

Planning 1-3
Policies in place at early stage 
in the life of the Joint Housing 
Delivery Strategy.

Can be 
achieved 
using existing 
resources.

G, H 16

Increase proportion of new 
market homes to be built to 
Building Regulation Part M (4) 
Category 2 standard with a small 
number of plots on sites over 
a certain size to be reserved 
for construction to Building 
Regulation Part M (4) Category 3 
standard in response to demand 
(subject to viability).

Planning 1-3
Policies in place at early stage  
in the life of the Joint Housing  
Delivery Strategy.

Can be 
achieved 
using existing 
resources.

I, M, P 17
Regularly review strategy to 
evaluate performance and 
update, where required.

Development, 
Housing

End 
of 

years 
3, 6 
and 
10.

Evaluation report highlighting 
lessons learned and providing 
recommendations for updating 
strategy.

Can be 
achieved 
using existing 
resources.

Table 1: JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY ACTION PLAN

P
age 38

A
genda Item

 6



17

32. The Joint South and Vale Housing Delivery Strategy;

 •  Focusses on the councils’ need to deliver exceptionally challenging 
targets for housing delivery in a climate of constant flux.

 •  Is based on a considerable amount of in-depth research of the housing 
market in both districts, and the likely housing policies and market trends 
that will shape this market in the future. [Note: this research has been 
compiled into a suite of documents that can be viewed or downloaded:

  www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/localplan 
  www.southoxon.gov.uk/newlocalplan

  • Addresses four strategic themes;

  − delivering housing need

  − providing an appropriate range of housing 

  − delivering housing to support forecast economic growth

  − improving standards in new homes

 •  Has a clear short, medium and long-term focus and an action plan that 
is aligned to the main strategic themes; identities key actions, delivery 
timescales, responsibilities and expected outcomes.

 •  Involves investigating, developing and progressing innovative 
partnerships, exploring wider delivery mechanisms and providing funding, 
where necessary, to implement the strategy and ensure that the numbers, 
range and suitability of new homes will positively enhance the lives of 
people living and working in our districts.

33.  Influencing housing delivery is an extremely challenging task due to the vast 
complexity of the housing sector (the development process, the changing 
make-up and needs of the population, the market place for social, affordable 
and market housing etc.).

34.  The Joint South and Vale Housing Delivery Strategy attempts to take account 
of as many of these complex issues as possible, indicate the actions needed 
to increase the volume of new housing provision and ensure that new housing 
meets the needs of everyone wishing to live and work in South and Vale.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONSUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

JOINT HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY     2018 - 2028            

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 6

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/localplan 
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/newlocalplan


Contact us:
Development and Housing

135 Eastern Avenue
Milton Park

Milton
OX14 4SB

housing@southandvale.gov.uk
01235 422451

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 6



APPENDIX 2

Draft Joint Housing Delivery Strategy – public consultation 
Stakeholder Contact Plan

Stakeholder Consultation to 
date

1-2-1 required 
and how?

Written contact – media?

Parishes T & P Summer 
forums – July 17

No Council newsletter/poster to 
parishes

NP groups If attended T & P 
Summer forum

No As above 

Registered 
Providers

Stakeholder event 
18th Jan

RP Forum
26th Sept 17

Circulation of strategy for 
Forum

Developers Stakeholder event 
18th Jan 17

No Council contact routes (eg; 
via Economic Development)
Await responses to public 
consultation

Communities First 
Oxfordshire 
(CFO)

Unable to attend 
stakeholder event 
18th Jan 17

No Comms article directly 
mailed and/or poster

OCVA – able to 
contact approx.. 
800 organisations

None No As above

Disability Access 
groups – both for 
Vale and South

Group meetings in 
August 17

As per group 
meetings

Direct emailing of draft 
Strategy, supply of paper 
versions as requested

Age UK None No Comms article directly 
mailed 

CAB Unable to attend 
stakeholder event 
18th Jan 17

No Comms article directly 
mailed and/or poster

District and 
County councils 
in Oxfordshire

Stakeholder event 
18th Jan 17

No As above

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3

Stakeholder events held prior to period of public consultation for the

draft Joint Housing Delivery Strategy

Date Purpose of event Attendance

18 January 
2017

Initial Stakeholder 
event held to provide 
information on the 
findings of research 
undertaken by Wessex 
Economics Ltd. to a 
range of organisations 
with an interest in 
housebuilding

Registered Providers (Housing 
Associations)

Developers (housebuilders)

Oxfordshire District council and 
County council officers

South and Vale officers

South and Vale councillors

Citizens Advice Bureau

Oxfordshire Community Land Trust

Oxfordshire Local Enterprise 
Partnership

Earth Trust

5 July 2017 South Oxfordshire 
Summer Town and 
Parish Forum (item on 
the agenda)

All parishes are invited which can 
include Neighbour Plan 
representation

12 July 2017 Vale Summer Town 
and Parish Forum (item 
on the agenda)

All parishes are invited which can 
include Neighbour Plan 
representation

9 August 2017 Didcot Access Group 
(item on the agenda)

Group is run by the council’s 
Equalities Officer

Residents and representatives from:  
MIGWAL, MIGGS and OXTRAG

16 August 
2017

Vale Disability Access 
Group (item on the 
agenda)

Group is run by the council’s 
Equalities Officer

Residents

26 September 
2017

Registered Provider 
Forum (main item on 
agenda)

All RPs operating across both South 
and Vale

Page 43

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 4

             

Draft strategies/policies – 

Equality and human rights impact check

Draft strategy/policy being checked: Joint Housing Delivery Strategy

Is this draft strategy/policy:  South only
 Vale only
X Joint across both councils

Service team: Development and Housing  

Officer completing this: Helen Novelle

Once completed:

Date completed: 16/03/2017

Signed _ _Helen Novelle_ _ _ (Officer)

Signed _ _Gerry Brough _ _ _ (Head of Service)

Signed _ Cheryl Reeves _ _ (Cheryl Reeves, equalities officer)

PLEASE NOTE – THIS CHECK MUST BE COMPLETED BEFORE YOUR DRAFT 
STRATEGY IS SUBMITTED TO MANAGEMENT TEAM AND COUNCILLORS 

FOR APPROVAL

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



Why do you need to do this Equality and human rights impact check?

Our strategies and policies set out the way we will deliver our services (including 
employment opportunities). When we are developing them, we need to check that they are 
not going to create any barriers which could prevent people from accessing our services. 

People in Southern Oxfordshire may face barriers because of things like 
disability, gender (including transgender, pregnancy and maternity), 
age, sexual orientation, rural isolation, income, religion/belief or 
ethnicity.

As well as thinking about how our services will meet the needs of these groups of people, 
we also need to consider how our draft strategies and policies will help us to:

 promote positive relations within communities
 give everyone a voice
 respect and value everyone
 protect people’s human rights 

This equality and human rights impact check provides officers with a framework to help 
them work through these considerations in relation to their draft policy/strategy, ensuring 
that we are meeting our legal duties with regards to equality, diversity and human rights. 

We have a statutory duty to carry out these assessments and they contribute towards our 
corporate priority to ‘optimise access to services (Vale)/’provide equality of access to our 
services’ (South).

If you have any queries about this Check or would like some advice/support in 
completing it, please contact the Shared equalities officer (see contact details 
below).

Once you’ve completed this equality and human rights impact check, please send 
the paperwork to the shared equality officer, along with a copy of the draft 
strategy/policy.

Cheryl Reeves (equalities officer)
Email: cheryl.reeves@southandvale.gov.uk 
Telephone:  x2108

Page 46

Agenda Item 6

mailto:cheryl.reeves@southandvale.gov.uk


OUTLINE OF THE DRAFT STRATEGY / POLICY YOU ARE CHECKING:
1. What are the aims and objectives of this draft strategy/policy?

To provide a strategic framework to assess the current and future requirements of housing to meet the needs of our communities 
and the local economy.

This framework will provide a strategy to:
1. Deliver an appropriate range of housing to meet the full range of needs in the community 
2. Ensure that the location and type of housing supports economic growth objectives
3. Ensure that overall housing targets are delivered
4. Ensure that homes are built to a high design code

2. Who is the proposed strategy or policy designed to support / help / serve?

- The evidence base supporting the Housing Strategy and the output in terms of recommendations will support the production of 
policies and supplementary planning documents directing future housing requirements, including standards and tenure types.

- The Strategy will provide clarity within the councils and externally (for housing developers, Registered Providers of affordable 
housing etc.) on the councils’ expectations from future housing developments

- The Strategy will support the delivery of housing which is key to supporting the future of mixed, sustainable and vibrant 
communities.

3. If the draft strategy/policy relates to an existing council service/function, has an Equality & Human Rights Impact 
Assessment (EHRIA) already been completed on the service/function?

 No  (this has been done in the past with a range of activities identified)
 Yes – please list any issues/barriers identified within the assessment that your draft strategy needs to address:

Previous Housing Strategies are considerably out of date and not considered to be relevant

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 6



4. Does the draft strategy or policy have the potential to cause a negative impact or discriminate against certain 
groups in the community?

Equality group Yes No If ‘yes’, please explain how the 
strategy/policy could cause a 
negative impact or discriminate.  
If you can not justify this you will 
need to take mitigating action, 
complete the action plan at the 
end of this assessment.

If ‘No,’ What existing evidence (presumed or 
otherwise) do you have for this? e.g. Will the 
service changes advance equality of opportunity 
between people who share a protected 
characteristic?  This means will they
 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by 

people due to their protected characteristics.
 Take steps to meet the needs of people from 

protected groups where these are different from 
the needs of other people

People from ethnic 
minority groups

No

People living in rural 
areas

No

Men or women 
(including pregnant 
women, women on 
maternity and 
transgender people)

No

Gay, lesbian or 
bisexual people

No

The base of evidence supporting the Joint Housing 
Strategy provides an understanding of migration 
patterns in terms of age, access to employment, 
and, in particular, affordability levels.
Quality of life and environment affects everyone and 
whilst this is a key issue for businesses/employers, 
the availability of low cost, decent quality housing 
with access to work in an attractive job market 
provides a benefit across different cultures/ethnic 
groups and other equality groups. 

The sources of data used have provided an insight 
into a wide range of socio economic issues including 

P
age 48

A
genda Item

 6



Equality group Yes No If ‘yes’, please explain how the 
strategy/policy could cause a 
negative impact or discriminate.  
If you can not justify this you will 
need to take mitigating action, 
complete the action plan at the 
end of this assessment.

If ‘No,’ What existing evidence (presumed or 
otherwise) do you have for this? e.g. Will the 
service changes advance equality of opportunity 
between people who share a protected 
characteristic?  This means will they
 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by 

people due to their protected characteristics.
 Take steps to meet the needs of people from 

protected groups where these are different from 
the needs of other people

People from different 
religions/beliefs 
(including people 
without a religion/belief)

No migration patterns, affordability, life stages and 
household size and, whilst there is no specific focus 
on issues for individual equality groups, the aim has 
been to identify trends in accessing housing that 
may be driven by factors impacting on people in 
general, such as access to jobs, services and 
facilities.
Poverty can also affect anyone and evidence for the 
strategy has focused on affordability for all types of 
tenures, identifying the proportions of households 
who need to claim Housing Benefit and the specific 
problems facing younger people and families on low 
incomes. 
This evidence has highlighted the continuing need 
for significant levels of affordable rented 
accommodation to be maintained although 
recommendations include the need to consider a 
flexible approach to tenure balance in situations 
where localised housing need may be more suitably 
addressed.  To support this the strategy includes a 
checklist to consider affordable housing tenure mix. 

P
age 49

A
genda Item

 6



Equality group Yes No If ‘yes’, please explain how the 
strategy/policy could cause a 
negative impact or discriminate.  
If you can not justify this you will 
need to take mitigating action, 
complete the action plan at the 
end of this assessment.

If ‘No,’ What existing evidence (presumed or 
otherwise) do you have for this? e.g. Will the 
service changes advance equality of opportunity 
between people who share a protected 
characteristic?  This means will they
 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by 

people due to their protected characteristics.
 Take steps to meet the needs of people from 

protected groups where these are different from 
the needs of other people

Older or younger 
people

No A significant amount of data review has provided a 
clear focus on the need for future provision of 
housing suitable for older people both from enabling 
people to continue to live independently for longer 
by moving to specialised accommodation, and the 
impact this will have on releasing general needs 
stock of all tenures for younger households.  The 
strategy suggests the council could consider making 
explicit reference to criteria for extra care 
development so that developers are aware of how 
their schemes will be assessed in terms of location 
and quality.

Research has identified gaps in general housing for 
younger people such as the need for good quality 
private rented accommodation providing a range of 
options, including house-share, to meet need from 
those taking up employment and who may be on 
low incomes.  The strategy also recommends 
exploring whether specific products could be 
developed to support housing for essential workers 
(teachers, nurses, and science based professionals) 
as low cost home ownership tenures on new 
development sites maybe out of reach for many 
young professionals. It also recommends South and 
Vale consider providing guidance to RP’s on 
affordable rent levels that are accessible to those on 
the waiting list and take account of the benefit cap.

P
age 50

A
genda Item

 6



Equality group Yes No If ‘yes’, please explain how the 
strategy/policy could cause a 
negative impact or discriminate.  
If you can not justify this you will 
need to take mitigating action, 
complete the action plan at the 
end of this assessment.

If ‘No,’ What existing evidence (presumed or 
otherwise) do you have for this? e.g. Will the 
service changes advance equality of opportunity 
between people who share a protected 
characteristic?  This means will they
 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by 

people due to their protected characteristics.
 Take steps to meet the needs of people from 

protected groups where these are different from 
the needs of other people

People with disabilities 
(including carers)

No Standards in new homes and accessible housing 
was one of the 4 main themes of evidence based 
research to support the Joint Housing Strategy.
The evidence base quantifies the level of population 
living with a long-term health problem or disability 
and their current housing tenure.  Data on Disabled 
Facilities Grants and DLA claimants also helps to 
determine the extent of the need for 
adapted/adaptable housing.
Work has been undertaken to support the councils’ 
aim to require higher space standards, at least 
National Space Standards Level 1.
Draft recommendations focus on a proposals for all 
new affordable housing and 15% of market housing 
to be delivered to Category 2 standards. In addition, 
5% of new affordable housing should be built to 
Category 3 standard and, for sites of 100 units or 
more, there should be allowance made for 2% of the 
market homes to be delivered to Category 3 
standards if the need arises.  The strategy also 
includes a longer term suggestion (5-10 years) to 
consider the viability impact of applying category 2 
‘accessible and adaptable’ dwellings to all market 
homes and specifically those planned to be 
developed in Didcot Garden Town and Berinsfield.  
This approach would, if feasible, have the greatest 
impact on housing stock over time.

P
age 51

A
genda Item

 6



Equality group Yes No If ‘yes’, please explain how the 
strategy/policy could cause a 
negative impact or discriminate.  
If you can not justify this you will 
need to take mitigating action, 
complete the action plan at the 
end of this assessment.

If ‘No,’ What existing evidence (presumed or 
otherwise) do you have for this? e.g. Will the 
service changes advance equality of opportunity 
between people who share a protected 
characteristic?  This means will they
 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by 

people due to their protected characteristics.
 Take steps to meet the needs of people from 

protected groups where these are different from 
the needs of other people

Local Voluntary, 
Community and Faith 
sector organisations

The draft Housing Strategy does not relate directly 
to the VCF sector

5. Have reasonable adjustments been made for people with disabilities to ensure they can use the draft strategy or 
policy?  This might mean treating disabled people better than non-disabled people in order to meet their needs

 No 
 Yes  - please provide detail:

The Housing Strategy will take account of the needs of people with disabilities.  The evidence base includes recommendations for 
Cat 2 & 3 housing which is currently being considered by the planning policy team.  It also ncludes future provision for specialist 
housing suitable for older people which enable them to continue living independently.  This type of housing can also be suitable for 
some people with disabilities.

6. Have there been any equality related recommendations in the area that your draft policy/strategy is covering which 
have arisen from, for example, internal/external audits or scrutiny reports? 

Recommendation made Is this being addressed in your draft strategy or policy? If not, 
please explain why.

N/A

P
age 52

A
genda Item

 6



7. Will the draft strategy or policy help to foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and people who do not share it e.g will the changes help to tackle prejudice and promote understanding between the 
different groups

 No (If you feel there is scope to improve how you foster good relations, amend you decision accordingly)
 Yes – please explain how
Both councils’ housing policies have historically promoted integration of affordable housing that is indistinguishable from open 

market housing.  

The draft Joint Housing Strategy makes recommendations for expanding the future tenure offer to meet the needs of 
households in varying stages of life, income levels and specialised housing requirements which, in turn, will enhance the 
creation of mixed and sustainable communities.  

HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS
8. Will the draft strategy or policy have an impact on any relevant human rights [You may find it helpful to view the human rights 
guide for public authorities on the intranet to help you decide].  Please identify which human rights have been considered?

What impact was identified? A Housing Strategy can protect Human Rights

Was the impact identified positive (fulfilling, protecting, promoting, respecting) 
Please indicate the positive effect: ….. In applying the joint Housing Strategy, the Housing Team will comply with Human 
Rights 

Was the impact negative (removing, unjustifiably interfering with any human rights)?
If so, please indicate how the strategy / policy will be amended to reduce or eliminate any negative impact

9. Has there been consultation with relevant community groups to help inform this draft strategy or policy?

If not, please explain why:

The Joint Housing Strategy is primarily supported by a strong base of empirical evidence determining both the characteristics of 
the local housing markets and specific issues in accessing housing for local residents. P

age 53

A
genda Item

 6



An extensive review of the evidence has provided draft recommendations based on technical understanding of the overall need 
for housing delivery to meet significant target levels over the course of the next ten years.

The recommendations from the Strategy will impact directly on housebuilders, housing associations, Vale and South’s planning 
teams and Oxfordshire County Council officers involved in the commissioning of specialised housing schemes.

As the draft Joint Housing Strategy has a specific aim of supporting economic growth, major employers in both districts were 
contacted both directly and through the use of a questionnaire to determine issues affecting recruitment and retention of staff.

A ‘Stakeholder’ event was held on 18th January 2017 attended by representatives from these main organisations which provided 
extensive feedback on a number of issues, including considerable reference to the need for specialised housing. 

The draft Housing Strategy addresses needs based on evidence which will support the production of planning policy. 

If yes, please list who you have consulted:
A four-week period of public consultation will be undertaken from 25th September 2017

During August 2017, awareness of the draft Housing Delivery Strategy and initial consultation was undertaken with specific 
groups (VDAG, DAG, MIGGS and MIGWAL)

Do you feel there are any groups that the draft strategy or policy significantly affects who you have not currently consulted? If 
yes, please contact the shared equality officer for advice (see page 2 for contact details).

10.Has the draft strategy or policy missed opportunities to advance equality of opportunity, positive attitudes and 
promote respect for human rights?

 No 
 Yes – please outline the plans you have to address the missed opportunities (complete table below)

Action plan for mitigating action or advancing equality of opportunity and promoting respect for human 
rights

Action Person responsible Target completion dateP
age 54

A
genda Item

 6



Cabinet Report

Report of Head of Finance
Author: Ben Watson
Telephone: 01235 422492
Textphone: 18001 01235 422492
E-mail: ben.watson@southandvale.gov.uk
Wards affected: All
Cabinet member responsible: Jane Murphy
Tel: 07970 932054
E-mail: jane.murphy@southandvale.gov.uk
To: CABINET on 7 December 2017
To: Council on 14 December 2017

Council tax base 2018/19

Recommendations

1. That the report of the head of finance for the calculation of the council’s tax base 
and the calculation of the tax base for each parish area for 2018/19 be approved.

2. That, in accordance with The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) 
(England) Regulations 2012, the amount calculated by South Oxfordshire District 
Council as its council tax base for the year 2018/19 be 56,163.3  

3. That, in accordance with The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) 
(England) Regulations 2012, the amount calculated by South Oxfordshire District 
Council as the council tax base for the year 2018/19 for each parish be the amount 
shown against the name of that parish in Appendix 1 of the report of the head of 
finance to Cabinet on 7 December 2017.  

Purpose of Report

1. The purpose of this report is to ask Cabinet to recommend the council tax base for 
2018/19 to Council for approval.

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



Corporate Objectives 

2. The calculation of the tax base is a legal requirement and an essential part of the tax 
setting process which helps to achieve the council’s corporate objective of effectively 
managing its resources.

Background

3. Before the council tax can be set by the council, a calculation has to be made of the 
council tax base, which is an estimate of the taxable resources for the district as a 
whole and for each parish area.  

4. The council tax base for the district has to be notified to Oxfordshire County Council 
and the Police and Crime Commissioner by 31 January 2018.  Each parish and town 
council is also notified of the figure for its area.

5. The legislation requires that the council tax base is approved by full council or a non-
executive body with delegated powers.  No such delegation exists, so cabinet is 
therefore asked to recommend to council the schedule set out in Appendix 1 as the 
council tax base for the district as a whole and for each parish area.

Calculation of the tax base

6. The starting point for the calculation is the total number of dwellings and their council 
tax band. 

7. The council then allows for the following information, for each band:

(a) dwellings which will be entirely exempt so no tax is payable (e.g. those occupied 
entirely by students)

(b) dwellings which will attract a 25 per cent reduction (e.g. those with a single adult 
occupier)

(c) dwellings which will attract a 50 per cent reduction (e.g. those where all of the 
adult residents qualify for a reduction)

(d) dwellings which will be treated as being in a lower band because they have been 
adapted for a severely disabled person.  The regulations provide methodology to 
take account of the reduction available to those in band A dwellings

(e) dwellings which will be on the valuation list but which attract discounts or 
disablement relief or are exempt, for only part of the year

8. Each band is then converted into "band D equivalents" by applying the factor laid down 
by legislation.  For example, a band A dwelling is multiplied by 2/3 to arrive at the band 
D equivalent figure, whilst a band H dwelling is multiplied by two.  All these are then 
added together to give a total of band D equivalents. 

Page 56

Agenda Item 7



9. A final adjustment is required to allow for non-collection.  The council is required to 
decide what its collection rate is likely to be and apply this to its council tax base.  For 
the 2017/18 tax the council assumed 98 per cent would eventually be collected and it is 
proposed to use 98 per cent again in 2018/19.  

Taxbase for 2018/19

10.Based on the assumptions detailed above the council tax base for 2018/19 is 56,163.3. 

11.Similar calculations are required for each parish in order to calculate the proportion of 
the district's tax base which relates to its area.  A schedule of the tax base for each 
parish is set out in Appendix 1. 

12.To calculate the council tax amounts payable per property band for the council, its 
council tax requirement (i.e. the amount of council tax to be raised) is divided by the 
Band D equivalent (taxbase).  This will be finalised during January and February, 
culminating in the council tax being set by council on 15 February 2018 (this date is 
subject to the council being notified of the major precepting authorities’ council tax 
requirements). 

Financial Implications

13.These are set out in the body of the report.

Legal Implications

14.These are set out in the body of the report.

Risks

15.The council’s methodology for calculating the taxbase involves basing the calculation 
on actual dwellings at a certain point in time, rather than forecasting on potential new 
dwellings that may be built in the future.  Because of this the risk exposure is 
considered to be low.

Background Papers

None

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



Appendix 1
PARISH COUNCIL TAX BASES - 2018-19

PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL NUMBER PARISH PARISH PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL NUMBER PARISH PARISH
OF TAX TAX OF TAX TAX

DWELLINGS BASE BASE DWELLINGS BASE BASE
2018-19 2018-19 2017-18 2018-19 2018-19 2017-18

Adwell 14 11.7 12.6 Sandford on Thames 581 489.2 487.8
Aston Rowant 348 429.2 425.0 Shiplake 734 998.2 979.9
Aston Tirrold & Upthorpe 224 261.2 256 Shirburn 54 57.1 58.5
Beckley & Stowood 250 277.6 270.6 Sonning Common 1,614 1,594.4 1,599.1
Benson 1,752 1,693.2 1,693.4 South Moreton 131 126.9 129.9
Berinsfield 1,101 647.1 633.4 South Stoke 220 227.3 222.8
Berrick Salome 123 165.0 165.2 Stadhampton 322 321.9 324.6
Binfield Heath 277 312.1 311.1 Stanton St John 190 221.0 220.6
Bix & Assendon 255 326.0 325.9 Stoke Row 270 323.1 316.1
Brightwell Baldwin 82 103.1 102.7 Stoke Talmage 22 27.4 26.5
Brightwell cum Sotwell 618 645.4 647.2 Swyncombe 117 136.7 134.7
Britwell Salome 86 100.3 99.7 Sydenham 147 159.6 158.6
Chalgrove 1,135 1,061.9 1,054.1 Tetsworth 295 302.9 297.9
Checkendon 212 237.6 233.5 Thame 5,264 4,547.6 4,434.4
Chinnor 2,655 2,467.2 2,421.9 Tiddington with Albury 276 259.8 266.8
Cholsey 1,701 1,499.5 1,504.5 Toot Baldon 58 70.0 69.3
Clifton Hampden 252 281.0 281.1 Towersey 180 183.7 178.1
Crowell 47 58.0 58.4 Wallingford 3,648 2,986.0 2,941.6
Crowmarsh 709 679.2 673.3 Warborough 437 475.7 476.3
Cuddesdon & Denton 200 164.7 162.6 Waterperry with Thomley 79 87.3 86.5
Culham 172 177.1 171.4 Waterstock 39 44.2 42.1
Cuxham with Easington 60 62.1 62.9 Watlington 1,225 1,171.6 1,157.4
Didcot 12,026 9,206.4 9,023.6 West Hagbourne 112 120.6 120.6
Dorchester 487 552.4 542.7 Wheatfield 11 14.9 15.2
Drayton St Leonard 117 132.3 131.5 Wheatley 1,859 1,714.2 1,696.1
East Hagbourne 495 503.1 498.3 Whitchurch on Thames 334 397.6 394.5
Elsfield 48 55.7 56.6 Woodcote 1,050 1,040.3 1,043.8
Ewelme 426 364.7 366.7 Woodeaton 29 38.0 37.3
Eye & Dunsden 148 181.5 180.8
Forest Hill with Shotover 370 335.3 328.6 TOTAL 59,905 56,163.3 55,557.2
Garsington 773 689.6 684.0
Goring 1,526 1,686.0 1,693.2
Goring Heath 495 586.4 586.7
Great Haseley 240 254.1 249.3
Great Milton 340 311.9 312.2
Harpsden 168 234.3 231.1
Henley on Thames 5,804 5,701.3 5,668.7
Highmoor 136 166.6 161.4
Holton 159 178.9 176.9
Horspath 614 610.7 609.6
Ipsden 155 166.9 162.4
Kidmore End 525 669.4 666.5
Lewknor 288 305.1 306.7
Little Milton 206 212.0 212.1
Little Wittenham 28 33.6 34.0
Long Wittenham 362 354.2 349.6
Mapledurham 130 124.0 124.0
Marsh Baldon 115 123.0 122.2
Moulsford 216 248.8 244.9
Nettlebed 339 360.9 360.8
Newington 49 59.6 58.9
North Moreton 155 191.4 191.2
Nuffield 219 236.5 233.3
Nuneham Courtenay 94 100.0 99.8
Pishill with Stonor 143 183.7 183.8
Pyrton 92 113.3 111.4
Rotherfield Greys 156 209.2 204.7
Rotherfield Peppard 690 923.1 905.4

Page 58

Agenda Item 7



Document is Restricted

Page 59

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 61

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes 5 October 2017
	Minutes 14 November 2017

	6 Housing delivery strategy 2018 to 2028
	Appendix 1 - Final draft joint housing delivery strategy
	Appendix 2 - Stakeholder contact plan
	Appendix 3 - Stakeholder events and attendees
	Appendix 4 - Equality impact check

	7 Council tax base
	9 Exempt minutes
	Exempt minutes 14 November 2017




